67894.9

NO. 67894-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

ALEXANDER ORTIZ-ABREGO,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE SUSAN CRAIGHEAD

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Appellant

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

i i te se a la ere is all

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

٠

1. The trial court erred by entering an order finding that the defendant was no competent to be sentenced, and by granting a new trial.

2. The trial court erred when it found that "the defendant was unable to understand the trial process, the testimony of witnesses, and argument as a result of the combination of his borderline intellectual functioning and his auditory processing disability" and that "he lacked the capacity to assist his attorney in the absence of accommodations outline by Dr. Judd. . ." CP 346-47 (Conclusion of Law 2).

3. The trial court erred when it ruled that "the defendant was not competent to stand the trial we gave him, because he was not capable of properly understanding the nature of the trial proceeding or rationally assisting his legal counsel in the defense of his cause." CP 347 (Conclusion of Law 3).

4. The trial court erred when it ruled that "the defendant is not competent to be sentenced because even if the Court were to adopt the accommodations recommended by Dr. Judd, he did not understand the proceeding that led to his conviction." CP 347 (Conclusion of Law 4).

5. The trial court erred in faulting attorney Samuel for not doing more to ensure the defendant's understanding of the trial process. CP 336-337 (Findings of Fact 30-36); CP 346-47 (Conclusions of Law 1, 2)

The trial court erred when it found that Dr. Judd had not
found the jail phone calls to bear significantly on the issue of competency.
CP 345 (Findings of Fact 52, 53).

 The trial court erred when it concluded that Dr. Judd's report was sufficient to find that the defendant was not competent to stand trial. CP
335 (Finding of Fact 29); CP 345-46 (Findings of Fact 54, 55).

B. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. A defendant is competent to stand trial if he understands the charges and can assist his attorney by relaying information about the case. Ortiz-Abrego understood the charges and was able to relay and discuss case-specific information to his lawyer. Did the trial court err in finding that Ortiz-Abrego was not competent because he failed to "properly" understand the trial process, the testimony of witnesses, and argument, and thus could not assist his attorney in the absence of accommodations?

2. Did the trial court err in finding that a more skilled attorney utilizing the type of accommodations suggested by Dr. Judd could have helped the defendant understand . . ." where the court never analyzed whether counsel's performance was truly deficient, and where the court

never asked whether the recommended accommodations were possible under the circumstances.

3. Did the trial court err in disregarding the information in the jail phone records based on Dr. Judd's testimony on direct examination, where on cross-examination he acknowledged that he had not read all the transcripts of the jail phone call records, and that passages the prosecutor recited would be significant to assessing the defendant's level of understanding?

4. Did the trial court err in relying on Dr. Judd's report to find the defendant incompetent where Dr. Judd never tested for competency, did not offer an opinion on competency, and simply recommended accommodations to improve chances that the defendant would fully understand the proceedings?

٠

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

Alexander Ortiz-Abrego was charged on October 17, 2008 with two counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree for oral sexual contact with a six-year old girl that occurred between 1999 and 2002. CP 1. Attorney Paige Garberding represented Ortiz-Abrego from October, 2008 until December, 2009. Attorney Anna Samuel replaced Garberding in late December, 2009, and Samuel remained Ortiz-Abrego's counsel through trial. Trial was originally set for February 20, 2009, but was continued until May 10, 2010. A third count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree was added on May 12, 2010. CP 7.

Trial lasted from May 10 to 27, 2010. Although concerns about Ortiz-Abrego's competence were raised early in the trial, the court held a colloquy and found that Ortiz-Abrego was competent and trial proceeded. RP 5/10/10, 37. Ortiz-Abrego was found guilty as charged on May 27, 2010. CP 37-39.

On June 3, 2010, defense counsel moved for a new trial based on concerns about Ortiz-Abrego's competency. CP 39-43. The court ordered that Ortiz-Abrego be re-evaluated for competency prior to sentencing. CP 59-65. Due to delays in securing a court-certified translator, Ortiz-Abrego was not evaluated until October 14, 2010. CP 88. On October 27, 2010, the court found that Ortiz-Abrego lacked the capacity to understand the charges against him. CP 93-95. Ortiz-Abrego was then sent to Western State Hospital (WSH) for a 90-day period of competency restoration treatment, from November 17, 2010 to February 22, 2011. CP 96. On February 24, 2011, WSH issued a report stating that it was unable to reach a conclusion on Ortiz-Abrego's competency. CP 101, 145-56. Anna Samuel withdrew as Ortiz-Abrego's counsel on March 2, 2011, because Samuel needed to testify as a witness in the competency hearing. RP 4/22/11, 7; CP 103-06. She was replaced by James Koenig. CP 103.

After several hearings about procedure, a contested competency hearing was held from June 8, 2011 to June 30, 2011. On July 5, 2011, the court ruled that Ortiz-Abrego lacked "the capacity to understand or assist counsel, and was not competent to stand trial." CP 264. The trial court granted the defense motion for a new trial on October 3, 2011 and filed detailed written findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 326-48. The State timely appealed this order for a new trial. Proceedings continue in the trial court to determine competency; no stay has yet been requested or ordered.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

The criminal charges against Ortiz-Abrego centered on four incidents of coerced oral sex that took place between 1999 and 2002. CP 3-4. The alleged victim was between six and seven years old during this time, and was the daughter of Ortiz-Abrego's cousin. <u>Id</u>. The girl did not disclose these events until July of 2008, and her mother contacted the King County Sheriff's Office a short time later. <u>Id</u>.

Detective Chris Knudsen of the King County Sheriff's Office first approached Ortiz-Abrego in September of 2008. RP 6/8/11, 10. Detective Knudsen is proficient in Spanish, and conducted all of his conversations with Ortiz-Abrego in Spanish without the use of a translator. <u>Id.</u> Detective Knudsen first contacted Ortiz-Abrego at his home in Seattle, and asked to interview him. <u>Id.</u> Ortiz-Abrego informed him that he was on the way to his son's funeral, and did not have time to speak with him. <u>Id.</u> They arranged for Ortiz-Abrego to meet with Detective Knudsen at his office in Kent at 9 a.m. the next morning. <u>Id.</u> at 10-13. Detective Knudsen observed that Ortiz-Abrego had no difficulty speaking with or understanding him. <u>Id.</u> Furthermore, Detective Knudsen did not write anything down, or give Ortiz-Abrego any directions beyond a business card with an address. <u>Id.</u> at 13. Ortiz-Abrego arrived at the Regional Justice Center in Kent, Washington at 9 o'clock the next morning. Prior to the interview, Detective Knudsen asked if Ortiz-Abrego had been to the Regional Justice Center before, and he replied that he had been there after being accused by his neighbors of rape; he said he had been targeted because he was Hispanic. RP 6/8/11, 14. The rape allegation was investigated, but charges were not filed. <u>Id.</u> at 35.¹

After reading his Miranda rights in Spanish, Detective Knudsen asked Ortiz-Abrego about his time living with his cousin and her daughter several years ago. RP 6/8/11, 16-17. Ortiz-Abrego immediately volunteered a story about how he had found the victim asleep on the couch one night and had attempted to wake her or carry her to her room. The victim woke up and started yelling, at which time her mother, Ortiz-Abrego's cousin, came into the room and accused Ortiz-Abrego of "doing something" to the victim. <u>Id.</u> at 21. This story is substantially similar to the one given by the complaining witness, with the exception of the nature of the touching. <u>Id.</u> at 22.

¹ The report from this prior event was admitted as exhibit 7 in the competency hearing. It was offered by the prosecutor to show the defendant's ability to recall past facts and to stand up for himself in the face of criminal accusations. Ortiz-Abrego was accused of sexual intercourse with a developmentally delayed high school student, a girl who functioned at about the 12 year-old level. Investigation cast doubt on the intercourse claim, and the girl subsequently moved away, so charges were never brought. Still, Ortiz-Abrego gave a statement to authorities denying intercourse but admitting that he allowed the girl to masturbate him to ejaculation.

In addition to offering his version of events, Ortiz-Abrego told Detective Knudsen specific rules of the house dictated to him by his cousin while he lived there. <u>Id.</u> Ortiz-Abrego suggested two possible explanations for the victim's allegations: first, that she was confused about what happened, or second, that another man living in the house committed the crime. RP 6/8/11, 24. Ortiz-Abrego appeared calm during the interview, and Detective Knudsen did not notice any apparent issues with auditory comprehension. <u>Id.</u> at 26. Furthermore, Ortiz-Abrego's replies were on-topic, coherent, and there were no abnormal delays between Detective Knudsen's questions and Ortiz-Abrego's responses. <u>Id.</u> at 27-28. Additionally, when Detective Knudsen did not know or understand a word in Spanish, Ortiz-Abrego explained it to him. <u>Id.</u>

After the interview, Ortiz-Abrego agreed to take a polygraph test about the incident. <u>Id.</u> at 28. Due to issues with arranging a translator, the polygraph had to be rescheduled twice. Rescheduling took place over the phone between Ortiz-Abrego and Detective Knudsen, and Ortiz-Abrego showed up on time to the polygraph appointment. <u>Id.</u> at 29. Ortiz-Abrego told the same story during the polygraph, and continued to deny that he had done anything wrong. <u>Id.</u> at 31. The polygraph indicated deception, and when confronted, Ortiz-Abrego told Detective Knudsen that he could "give him charges" if it would make the victim feel better. <u>Id.</u> at 44.

- 8 -

1208-9 Ortiz-Abrego COA Final

Ortiz-Abrego was charged with two counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree on October 17, 2008. CP 1.

3. FACTS RELATED TO COMPETENCY

a. Background And Pre-Trial.

Ortiz-Abrego is a 38-year old El Salvadoran who immigrated to the United States at the age of 17. See CP 44 (Judd Report, 5/17/10), 1. He lives with a common law wife and they have two small children. Id. Ortiz-Abrego was educated through the 6th grade in El Salvador. Id. He has held several jobs including construction, bagging at a grocery store, and working at a car dealership. RP 6/29/11, 58.*² Prior to this conviction, Ortiz-Abrego had never sought or obtained mental health services. CP 133-43. He pays his bills on time, and was able to pass his driver's license test on the second try without studying. CP 48 (Judd Report, 5/17/10). Additionally, he has an active social life and plays soccer regularly. Id.

Anna Samuel inherited Ortiz-Abrego's case as a part of Paige Garberding's caseload on December 7, 2009. RP 6/8/11, 60. Samuel had limited felony experience, but had spent the past two years working in

 $^{^2}$ On two days of the competency proceedings, a substitute report took over for the assigned reporter, and later prepared a transcript using different pagination. In this brief, an asterisk after an RP cite will indicate that the citation is to the substitute's report of proceedings for that date.

mental health court. RP 6/29/11, 78.* During her time in mental health court, Samuel became familiar with the process of screening defendants for mental illness, as well as the competency evaluation process. <u>Id.</u> It did not initially occur to Samuel to screen Ortiz-Abrego for mental illness because his case had already been scheduled for trial, and Garberding's notes did not indicate any mental health concerns. RP 6/8/11, 60, 82-83.³

Samuel spoke with Ortiz-Abrego approximately ten to fifteen times prior to trial. <u>Id.</u> Samuel never spoke with Ortiz-Abrego in English, and all of their meetings were facilitated by an interpreter. <u>Id.</u> at 64. During Samuel's initial meetings with Ortiz-Abrego, she discovered that he did not know his date of birth, his exact age, or his wife's birthday. <u>Id.</u> at 69-70. In another meeting, Samuel asked Ortiz-Abrego if his previous attorney had spoken with him about plea or treatment options, rather than going to trial. <u>Id.</u> at 80. Ortiz-Abrego did not appear to have any understanding of what treatment options were available, or that he had opted to go to trial. <u>Id.</u> Samuel then inquired further about Ortiz-Abrego's understanding of the trial process, and discovered that Ortiz-Abrego did not appear to understand the roles of the prosecutor, defense attorney, or jury. <u>Id.</u> at 81-82.

- 10 -

³ Garberding is one of the most senior and experienced lawyers at the Associated Counsel for the Accused; she has a reputation for thoroughness. RP 6/29/11, 81.

Samuel was concerned by this apparent lack of understanding, and used the skills she had learned from her time in mental health court to screen for mental health issues. <u>Id.</u> at 82. During these conversations, Samuel noticed that Ortiz-Abrego appeared to have difficulty remembering dates, and called his wife on two or three occasions to get that information. RP 6/29/11 (Hunt), 14-15. Although Ortiz-Abrego's comprehension issues concerned Samuel, she did not observe any symptoms associated with mental illness. <u>Id.</u> at 23.

Because of Ortiz-Abrego's difficulty in understanding oral explanations about the trial process, Samuel attempted to use several other methods to explain trial proceedings to him. These methods included the use of pictures to diagram the courtroom and the use of Ortiz-Abrego's past conviction for criminal trespass as an example to explain the criminal justice process. <u>Id.</u> at 12-13, 7-8. However, Ortiz-Abrego still did not seem to understand that he had pled guilty to a crime several years prior. <u>Id.</u> After a meeting on January 8, 2010, Samuel put in a request for the social worker attached to her office to examine Ortiz-Abrego because she had concerns about his competency to stand trial. <u>Id.</u> at 10. The social worker did not find any mental health issues, and recommended that Samuel speak slowly and repeat explanations as much as possible. <u>Id.</u> at 22-23. Samuel followed this recommendation, and met with Ortiz-Abrego

- 11 -

1208-9 Ortiz-Abrego COA Final

several times between January and May to explain the trial process and his options. <u>Id.</u>

Shortly before trial, on May 6-8, 2010, Samuel attended a continuing legal education conference. In one of the sessions, Samuel explained her interactions with Ortiz-Abrego and asked for advice in communicating with him. She further explained that neither she, nor the social worker were able to find any signs of mental illness. <u>Id.</u> at 23. She was told by one of the presenters that only a neuropsychologist would be able to tell if Ortiz-Abrego had cognitive disabilities, and that a social worker would not be able to recognize or diagnose these issues. <u>Id.</u> at 24. Samuel called a co-worker and asked them to schedule an appointment with a neuropsychologist as soon as possible, because the trial was due to start on May 10, 2010. <u>Id.</u> Her paralegal later secured an appointment with Dr. Ted Judd on May 17, 2010. <u>Id.</u> at 27-28.

b. Trial And Competency Issues.

Pre-trial motions began on May 10, 2010. <u>Id.</u> at 28. Ortiz-Abrego brought his five-year old son to trial with him that day because his wife had just given birth the previous night and was in the hospital. RP 5/10/10, 5. Ortiz-Abrego did not know the exact name of his son's school or have a telephone number for the school. <u>Id.</u> at 7. The bailiff was able to determine the name of the boy's school and arrange for child

care for him. After a discussion about Ortiz-Abrego's son, the prosecutor noted that the information was to be amended to add another count, and he expressed concern that the consequences of the amendment be carefully explained to Ortiz-Abrego so that he could decide whether to accept a plea offer. Id. at 11. Samuel replied that she had concerns about Ortiz-Abrego's competency and comprehension, and that she was in the process of arranging for a neuropsychologist to evaluate him. Id. at 12-13. The trial court indicated that it shared the parties' concerns about Ortiz-Abrego's competency, and engaged in a colloquy with Ortiz-Abrego to resolve this issue. Id. at 15.

During the colloquy, Ortiz-Abrego demonstrated a basic but unsophisticated level of understanding about the trial process. First, he indicated that he understood that he was on trial because "it is said I raped somebody." <u>Id.</u> at 18. Second, he said that he understood that Samuel was his attorney, and that her job was "to defend him." <u>Id.</u> at 19. Third, he indicated that he knew it was his choice to either "declare myself guilty or come to trial." <u>Id.</u> at 20. Fourth, he demonstrated that he knew who the prosecutor was, and that he was the one accusing him of a crime. <u>Id.</u> Fifth, he understood that if he was found guilty of the charges levied by the prosecutor that he could spend the rest of his life in jail. <u>Id.</u> at 20-21. Sixth, he understood the jury was the one who would determine his guilt

- 13 -

•

or innocence. <u>Id.</u> at 22. Seventh, Ortiz-Abrego demonstrated that he had the ability to understand what he was told and ask questions when he asked the court what would happen if a witness lied. <u>Id.</u> at 24. Eighth, Ortiz-Abrego stated that his lawyer had talked to him about pleading guilty and possibly getting a two-year sentence, as well as the possibility of treatment. <u>Id.</u> at 25-26. Ortiz-Abrego indicated that he did not want treatment because he wasn't "crazy." <u>Id.</u> at 26. Finally, Ortiz-Abrego stated that he could recall the events in question and relay them to his attorney. <u>Id.</u>

After hearing remarks from counsel, the court found that Ortiz-Abrego met the competency standards set out by <u>State v. Lawrence</u>, 108 Wn. App. 226, 31 P.3d 1198 (2001). <u>Id.</u> at 37-38. The court took a recess to allow Samuel and the prosecutor to discuss a plea offer, and communicate it to Ortiz-Abrego. RP 5/10/10, 41. In the end, Ortiz-Abrego rejected the offer and chose to go to trial. RP 5/10/10, 41.

After trial had begun, the court allowed a recess on May 17, 2010 for Ortiz-Abrego to be evaluated by Dr. Ted Judd, a psychologist who specializes in neuropsychology and cross-cultural communication with Latin Americans. RP 6/8/11, 89-93. Dr. Judd evaluated both Ortiz-Abrego's cognitive functioning, and his ability to adapt and cope with

everyday activities. <u>Id.</u> at 109. He authored a report based on his observations. CP 44-58.

•

Dr. Judd diagnosed Ortiz-Abrego as having a borderline retarded level of intellectual functioning (IQ of 71) relative to U.S. population. CP 51-55. Dr. Judd opined that Ortiz-Abrego had an auditory learning disability that would make it difficult for him to track courtroom proceedings. CP 55. Dr. Judd also said that Ortiz-Abrego had "notably concrete thinking," meaning that he had difficulty understanding abstract, hypothetical scenarios. CP 55; RP 6/8/11, 127-28. Dr. Judd made several recommendations to accommodate Ortiz-Abrego's cognitive issues including: slower proceedings with frequent breaks, the assistance of a Spanish-speaking cognitive aide, and written memos. CP 56.

Dr. Judd did not conclude – in either his report or his later testimony at the competency hearing – that Ortiz-Abrego was incompetent to stand trial. See RP 6/8/11, 133. In fact, Dr. Judd's report expressly says: "a specific evaluation of competence to stand trial was not requested and a full evaluation of this capacity was not completed." CP 55.

Dr. Judd expressed concerns with Ortiz-Abrego's ability to understand and evaluate the complexities involved in trial. CP 56. He opined that Ortiz-Abrego would have the most difficulty with "rapid speech, abstract concepts, and unfamiliar material." In testimony, Dr. Judd explained that ". . . as a clinical neuropsychologist, I'm always thinking of disability accommodations. . ." and that his report was designed to suggest steps to "facilitate his meaningful inclusion in proceedings." RP 6/9/11, 21.

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