No. 67894-9-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

ALEXANDER ORTIZ-ABREGO,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Susan Craighead

FILED
JUL 17 11 45 AM '09
CLERK OF COURT
JUL 17 2009
CLERK OF COURT
G.C.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GREGORY C. LINK
Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

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

Judge Craighead heard the State's experts describe Dr. Judd as the most-qualified individual to conduct an evaluation in a case such as this as he was the lone Spanish-speaking neuropsychologist in the region and Judge Craighead made a finding in that respect. CP 334, 342 (Findings of Fact 24 and 49). Dr. Judd's report contained suggested accommodations to ensure effective interaction with Mr. Ortiz-Abrego and to ensure he could absorb information being provided to him. CP 342 (Findings of Fact 48 and 49). But those accommodations were not made during restorative classes or in subsequent evaluations. *Id.*

Competency determinations are fact specific inquiries.

The appointed expert[s]' competency evaluation[s] and report [are] only one consideration among many in a trial court's determination of the defendant's competency to stand trial. The expert's examination and report may be of relatively little importance to the trial court in making its competency determination in a given case, regardless of whether the examination and report are accepted as adequate

Sisouvanh, at 7 (Internal citations omitted) (citing *inter alia State v. Dodd*, 70 Wn. 2d 513, 514, 424 P.2d 302 (1967)). In affirming a competency determination, *Dodd* noted the

trial court heard the defendant and his attorney, listened to a recital of his personal history, and considered a medical report signed by the Superintendent of Eastern State Hospital and two other doctors. These proceedings, combined with defendant's appearance and his comments and answers to extensive inquiries by the judge, all supplied the judge with a basis upon which to exercise a judicial discretion that the defendant was mentally competent to stand trial or to enter a plea of guilty

70 Wn. 2d at 520.

The State devotes much space in its brief to a discussion of cases in which appellate courts found a trial court had not abused its discretion in finding a person competent. Brief of Appellant at 34-36. The abuse of discretion standard recognizes that on certain issues a trial court must be permitted to choose from a “range of acceptable choices.” *Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d at 654. Unless the choice is one that no reasonable person could make it falls within the accepted range and is not an abuse of discretion. *Id.* Thus, past cases which have affirmed competency determinations recognize nothing more than that a reasonable person could reach that decision on those facts and thus the decision is within the range of reasonable choices. Those decision do not require every

reasonable person to reach that decision nor suggest that is the only reasonable decision.

Competency determinations are not made in the abstract nor based simply upon benchmarks from other cases. And that is precisely why the abuse of discretion standard applies. Tasked with determining the standard of review of a challenge to the adequacy of a competency evaluation the Supreme Court recognized

no rule of general applicability can be effectively constructed to govern the adequacy of competency evaluations in every case. As we have noted in the past, the mental health field is a discipline fraught with subtleties and nuances, and there is “wide latitude for differing opinions.

Sisouvanh, at 6. Thus, simply comparing Mr. Ortiz-Abrego’s case to others is of limited value.

Judge Craighead plainly put much weight on the opinion of Dr. Judd. She found he was “by far the most qualified expert.” CP 334 (Finding of Fact 24). The court considered the difficulties Dr. Judd believed Mr. Ortiz-Abrego would have and saw concrete examples of those in observations of the trial. CP 329 (Finding of Fact 9); CP 335 (Finding of Fact 28). Judge Craighead considered a wealth of information provided by both parties. CP 346 (Finding of Fact 55). And from this

information, Judge Craighead concluded Mr. Ortiz-Abrego was incompetent.

It is not enough that the State believes the evidence would permit alternative conclusions. Instead, so long as Judge Craighead's conclusion is not manifestly unreasonable it must be affirmed. Judge Craighead's ruling is well within the range of acceptable choices and therefore is not manifestly unreasonable.

2. Judge Craighead applied the correct legal standard for competency.

In apparent recognition of the factual support for Judge Craighead's findings, the State does not argue those findings are untenable. Instead, the State contends Judge Craighead's ruling relied upon an erroneous legal standard. The State opines the trial court "injected . . . a new requirement for the higher level of 'understanding'" Brief of Appellant at 40. However, an examination of the legal standard of competency reveals Judge Craighead added nothing to that standard and instead employed the standard required by *Dusky* and Due Process.

Dusky requires a court find a person incompetent if he lacks either (1) sufficient ability to consult with his attorney "with a reasonable degree of rational understanding," or (2) a rational as well

as factual understanding of the proceedings against him” 362 U.S. at 402. The court has made clear that this standards equates to a requirement that the person have “the capacity for ‘reasoned choice’ among the alternatives available to him.” *Godinez v. Moran*, 509 U.S. 389, 397, 113 S. Ct. 2680, 125 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1993). *Dusky* requires that a person have the ability to “perceive [] accurately, interpret[], and/or, respond [] appropriately to the world around him.” *Lafferty v. Cook*, 949 F.2d 1546, 1551 (10th Cir. 1991). At bottom, what is demanded is that a defendant has “sufficient competence to take part in a criminal proceeding and to make the necessary decisions throughout its course.” *Godinez*, 509 U.S. at 403 (Kennedy, J., concurring).

Nothing in Judge Craighead’s ruling deviates from or expands upon that standard. The State erects a strawman when it contends the court erred in equating “capacity” with “understanding.” Brief of Respondent at 42. From this the State contends Judge Craighead used an incorrect legal standard to find Mr. Ortiz-Abrego incompetent. And, thus, the State argues Judge Craighead abused her discretion.

Judge Craighead found:

While Dr. Judd was careful in his report and his testimony to leave the determination of the defendant’s competency to the Court, he raised very serious doubts about the defendant’s competency. “Mr. Ortiz-Abrego’s borderline

intelligence, concrete thinking, and auditory comprehension ability will have a substantial impact on his ability to participate in a trial. Most notably, he will have great difficulty in tracking, understanding, and remembering the proceedings. He will do worst with rapid speech, abstract concepts, and unfamiliar material. He will do somewhat better with slower proceedings, repetition, concrete material, and familiar events. He will have a great deal of difficulty responding to questions and will need repetition and simple questioning.” Exhibit 4. Dr. Judd also testified that if the Court were able to implement certain accommodations, it was possible that the defendant could track court proceedings, including sentencing. In the absence of these accommodations, the defendant would not have the capacity to understand the nature of the proceedings.

CP 335 (Finding of Fact 29.) As the quotations suggest, the bulk of this finding was taken verbatim from Dr. Judd’s report, but was also echoed in his testimony. 6/8/10 RP 124-35. Thus, there is simply no plausible way for the State to contend it is not factually supported.

Yet the State assigns error to this finding contending the court erred “when it concluded that Dr. Judd’s report was sufficient to find that the defendant was not competent to stand trial.” Brief of Appellant at 2. The State’s does not offer any argument as to why Finding of Fact 29 was incorrect. Where a party does not provide argument as to why a finding is erroneous, supported by citation to the record and legal authority, that assignment of error is waived. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). The

State does, however, offer a broad argument, without specific reference to any findings or legal authority for that matter, that the court erred in relying on Dr. Judd's opinion at all because Dr. Judd's report did not say Mr. Ortiz-Abrego was incompetent. Brief of Appellant at 48-49.

First, Judge Craighead did not make a finding that Dr. Judd's report was sufficient to deem Mr. Ortiz-Abrego incompetent. Instead, as *Dodd* instructs, she considered it as one of many pieces leading to her decision that Mr. Ortiz-Abrego was incompetent. *See e.g.* CP 346 (Finding of Fact 55) (listing information court considered in reaching her conclusion). Second, competency is a legal not medical construct. As the Supreme Court has recently said a "competency evaluation and report [are] only one consideration among many in a trial court's determination of the defendant's competency to stand trial." *Sisouvanh*, at 7. There is simply no abuse of discretion in Judge Craighead relying on Dr. Judd's report as one basis of her legal conclusion.

A finding that a person will have "great difficulty in tracking, understanding, and remembering the proceedings" is in all respects equal to a finding that the person will be unable to respond to the world around him. Contrary to the State's contention, the court's findings focus entirely upon Mr. Ortiz-Abrego's ability or capacity to

understand and assist and do not conflate capacity with an actual understanding. Moreover, the necessary understanding is of “the proceedings.” *Dusky*, 362 U.S. at 402. Thus, it is not clear what error the State believes Judge Craighead committed when she found he lacked the ability to understand “the trial process.” *See* Brief of Appellant at 40.

Because the competency determination in this case involved looking backward to a trial which had occurred, Judge Craighead examined the conduct of the trial to see how Dr. Judd’s opinion squared with what she saw and what Ms. Samuel described. The Court’s findings make this clear. For example, Finding of Fact 9 provides in part:

Let me be clear about the relevance of this information: in and of itself, the defendant’s difficulty providing Ms. Samuel with information she was seeking does *not* make the defendant incompetent, what is relevant is the extent to which these observations are consistent with Dr. Judd’s evaluation and the evaluations of the WSH experts.

CP 329 (Emphasis in original); *see also*, CP 346 (Finding of Fact 55) (specifically noting reliance on court’s observations of Mr. Ortiz-Abrego in evaluation of expert testimony).

Cases like *Dodd* instruct that a court should examine the historical facts of the case in reaching a conclusion regarding the defendant's competency. Judge Craighead was able to evaluate what she had observed and consider the deficits identified by Dr. Judd and his recommended accommodations which were not implemented at trial. But that is not the same as saying Mr. Ortiz-Abrego did not understand. Judge Craighead was certainly not required to ignore her own observations of the trial.

At most Judge Craighead applied the standard of *Dusky* and did so with the added context of her own observations. Her conclusions speak in terms of Mr. Ortiz-Abrego's ability or inability to understand the proceedings. CP 346-47. Conclusion of Law 2 concludes "I find he lacked the capacity to assist his attorney in the absence of the accommodations outlined by Dr. Judd, as set forth in Exhibit 4." CP 347. Thus, Judge Craighead concluded Mr. Ortiz-Abrego lacked the ability or capacity to understand. Concluding that he was unable to understand due to the lack of accommodations is no different than concluding an unmedicated client lacked capacity where experts opined medication was necessary to provide him the necessary capacity to understand trial. The State's effort to recast her ruling as premised upon

the “new” requirement of actual understanding is not borne out by the record.

Undeterred the State continues that the problem with equating capacity with understanding is that a person may have the ability to understand but fail to actually understand because he is inattentive or malingering. Brief of Appellant at 42. If one ignored the fact that the court did not conflate actual understanding with capacity the State may be correct. But even then, it is equally possible that a person may fail to understand because his cognitive disorders prevent him from having the capacity to do so. Here, Judge Craighead found the latter to be the case. That conclusion is amply supported by the facts and lies well within the range of reasonable choices.

The State loses track of the command of *Dusky* that a person’s understanding of the proceedings be both rational and factual, and that his ability to assist counsel be equally based upon a rational understanding. Ultimately the State’s argument devolves to a claim that the court should have relied more on the State’s experts and should have reached a different conclusion. The State cannot show Judge Craighead abused her discretion simply because she chose an alternative not preferred by the State or its experts.

3. Judge Craighead did not inject an ineffective assistance of counsel analysis into her competency determination.

The second prong of the State's claim that Judge Craighead applied an incorrect standard is the State's contention that the court concluded counsel was ineffective. Brief of Appellant at 44. But the State does not identify or assign error to a single finding of fact or conclusion of law entered by the court in this regard. Indeed, the State could not as the court did not enter one.

Dusky requires a determination that a person have sufficient ability to consult with his attorney "with a reasonable degree of rational understanding" 362 U.S. at 402. In assessing a defendant's ability to rationally assist reasonably assist counsel a court should give weight to defense counsel's assessment.

A lawyer's opinion as to his client's competency and ability to assist in his own defense is a factor to which the trial court must give considerable weight in determining a defendant's competency to stand trial.

State v. Hicks, 41 Wn. App. 303, 307, 704 P.2d 1206 (1985); *see also*, *State v. Harris*, 122 Wn.2d 98, 105, 94 P.3d 379 (2004).

Again, Judge Craighead heard Ms. Samuel's description of the difficulties she had in her interactions with Mr. Ortiz-Abrego and her efforts to impart on him an understanding of the peril he faced. CP 329

(Finding of Fact 8) (Despite fact that he had been attending pretrial proceedings for more than a year, Mr. Ortiz-Abrego did not seem to understand what a trial was or why he had been coming to court); CP 329-30 (Finding of Fact 10) (despite repeated discussion Mr. Ortiz-Abrego did not seem to appreciate his peril) CP 332 (Finding of Fact 19) (even after 10 to 12 hours of consultation Mr. Ortiz-Abrego demonstrated only a minimal understanding of the process). The State does not challenge any of those findings.

Judge Craighead heard Dr. Judd's description of the limitations Mr. Ortiz-Abrego would and will have in his relationship with counsel. Judge Craighead specifically noted that Mr. Ortiz-Abrego's lack of understanding was not the basis for her finding of incompetency but rather "what is relevant is the extent to which these observations are consistent with Dr. Judd's evaluation and the evaluations of the WSH experts." CP 329 (Finding of Fact 9). Indeed, at one point, the deputy prosecutor too had concerns for Mr. Ortiz-Abrego's competency. CP 332 (Finding of Fact 18). Judge Craighead found "Dr. Judd's report explained for Ms. Samuel why her lessons about the court process had

not worked.” CP 336 (Finding of Fact 30).² The court found that Dr. Judd’s opinion that Mr. Ortiz-Abrego’s concrete thinking would stand in the way of his ability to assist “was exactly the problem his attorney identified.” CP 335 (Finding of Fact 28). The State has not assigned error to this finding.


Judge Craighead properly considered that information with the added context of her own observations of the trial and subsequent proceedings. The court had ample evidence to conclude Mr. Ortiz-Abrego’s inability to understand or assist his attorney was due to the condition described by Dr. Judd. Her conclusion that Mr. Ortiz-Abrego lacked the capacity to assist his attorney is a proper application of the *Dusky* standard is supported by the record and is not an abuse of discretion.

² While the State assigns error to this finding, it has offered no argument as to why it is unsupported or improper, and thus it is waived *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy*, 118 Wn.2d at 809.

E. CONCLUSION

Judge Craighead did not abuse her discretion when she found Mr. Ortiz-Abrego incompetent. This court should affirm that determination.